b Earth Negotiations Bulleti N

A Reporting Servicefor Environment and Devel opment Negotiations

Vol. 4 No. 134

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (1ISD)

Tuesday, 23 November 1999

HIGHLIGHTS FROM CCD COP-3
MONDAY, 22 NOVEMBER 1999
Delegatesto COP-3 heard statements during morning and after-
noon Plenary sessions and discussed the proposal to add aregional
implementation annex, among other issues, during an afternoon
session of the COW. An Interparliamentary Round Table a so
convened to discuss contributions parliamentarians can make to
CCD implementation.

PLENARY

Thirty-six officias, including 17 Ministers and Deputy Minis-
tersand three heads of UN agencies, addressed the Special
Segment. CCD Executive Secretary Diallo noted that while
previous COPs addressed mechanismsfor implementation, COP-3
isthefirst meeting where national reportson CCD implementation
have been considered. He called on Partiesto intensify support to
developing countries. COP-3 President Sarney Filho (Brazil)
expressed Brazil’ shopefor aMandate that includes adeclaration of
commitmentsfor the next 10 yearsfocusing on energy, water
management, reforestation and afforestation, traditional knowl-
edge, early warning systems and indicatorsto assess CCD imple-
mentation, and involves governments, intergovernmental
organizations, NGOs, the private sector and all other relevant
actors. UN Secretary-General Kofi Annan, in astatement delivered
by UNEP Executive Director Klaus Topfer, saidit would bea
mistaketo say the CCD concerns only devel oping countries, given
itslinksto climate change, biodiversity, famine and social and
political conflict. He expressed hope that COP-3 would strengthen
the commitment to implement the CCD at all levels. For UNEP,
Topfer underlined the close linkages between desertification and
poverty, and stressed that strategiesto improve the environment
should build on the wisdom of women and cooperation with all
stakeholders. He highlighted UNEP’s activitiesto combat desertifi-
cation, including support to regional coordination unitsin Latin
America, Africaand Asiaand cooperation with the Global Mecha-
nism (GM).

IFAD President Fawzi Al-Sultan recalled that no official
funding was provided to the GM in 1998 and that, without consul -
tation with IFAD, theinitial requested budget of US$3 millionfor
the GM was set at only US$1million. He said that, had IFAD been
awarethe GM would beinadequately funded, it would have with-
drawn its offer to house the GM. He urged the COP to ensure that
the budget, as proposed by the GM, ismet to enableit to carry out
itsmandated function. GEF CEO Mohamed El-Ashry drew atten-
tionto the GEF snew operational programme for integrated
ecosystem management and to anew partnership forged with its
implementing agencieson land and water degradation with initial
emphasison Africa. Following the GEF and CCD Secretariat’s

collaborative efforts, a“linkages’ paper that includes an action
plan for support and involves a participatory approach was devel-
oped and will be presented to the GEF Council in December.

The G-77/CHINA noted that devel oping country Partiesplacea
high priority on their responsibilities and expressed hope that the
developed countries' failureto participate at senior Ministerial
levelsdoes not reflect afaltering of political will. KENYA noted
that, despite the record number of ratifications, thereisaloss of
momentum in the process. BURKINA FA SO expressed dismay
that during the first week of COP-3, many countries seemed to
shrug-off commitments made during the negotiation of the
Convention.

KENYA said the African national reportswere produced cost
effectively and efficiently and that they provide useful experiences
to other regions. Regarding CCD implementation, the EU said
delegates should not miss the opportunity to examine thelessons
learned by diverting too much conference timeto lessimportant
issues. MALAWI and MALI proposed establishing acommitteeto
review implementation.

Several Parties, including MALI, NIGER, LESOTHO, CAPE
VERDE and NEPAL, highlighted similarities between the Rio
Conventions and recognized the benefits of coordinating their
implementation. The EU said the search for synergies should bea
major objective of national and community-level implementation.

The EU said the GM should give priority to mohilizing existing
resources. MALI, with SENEGAL, MALAWI, BURKINA FASO
and EGY PT, urged Partiesto increase support to the GM to enable
it tofulfill itsmandate. MAURITANIA said it should havethree
working groups for each affected region and should organize
regular meetingsin each sub-region in Africato elaborate the
modalities of operation and facilitate accessto funds. BURUNDI
said the GM should establish acommunication system to report on
theresultsof itsactivities. NEPAL said the GM could play a
constructiverolein NAP articulation and implementation. CAPE
VERDE and BENIN underscored effective coordination of the GM
and the Secretariat.

GHANA, MOROCCO and BURUNDI recommended strength-
ening the Secretariat to enableit to fulfill itsmandate and called for
the approval itsbudget. MAURITANIA supported adopting a
medium-term strategy for the Secretariat giving priority to Africa.
CHINA proposed adopting the strategy by COP-4. MYANMAR
said regional coordinating unitswould play animportant rolein
promoting regional coordination and effective RAPimplementa-
tion, while LESOTHO proposed including their funding in the
CCD budget. TAJKISTAN appealed to the Secretariat for finan-
cia support to organize acoordinating meeting in Bangkok for the
Asian region. MALAWI encouraged governmentsto strengthen

Thisissueof the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> i swritten and edited by AngelaChurie<achurie@yahoo.com>, Jan-Stefan Fritz <j.fritz@l se.ac.uk>, Mark
Schulman <markschulman@hotmail.com> and Lynn Wagner, Ph.D. <lynn@iisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Managing Editor is
Langston James"Kimo" Goree<kimo@iisd.org>. Digital editing by LeilaM ead <leila@interport.net>. The Sustaining Donorsof the Bulletinare TheNetherlands Ministry
of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the United States (through USAID), the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forestsand L andscape, the United
Kingdom Department for International Development (DFID) and the European Commission (DG-XI). General Support for the Bulletin during 1999 is provided by thethe
German Federal Ministry of Environment (BMU) and the German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation (BMZ), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the
Government of Australia, the Ministries of Environment and Foreign Affairs of Austria, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Norway, the Ministry of
Foreign Affairs and the Ministry of Environment of Finland, the Government of Sweden, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), and the Global
Environment Facility (GEF). The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. |1SD can be contacted by e-
mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y 4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are
those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of 11SD and other funders. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial
publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the Managing Editor. Electronic
versions of the Bulletin are sent to e-mail distribution lists and can be found on the Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/. The satellite image was taken
aboveBrazil (€)1999 TheLiving Earth, Inc. http://livingearth.com. For information on the Earth Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.




Tuesday, 23 November 1999

e

Vol. 4 No. 134 Page 2

NGOs asameans of promoting democratization. KENYA
supported decentralization and, with ERITREA, active participa-
tion of local communities, women and youth groups.

Several Parties appeal ed to developed country partnersto make
available new resourcesto assist affected countriesin CCD imple-
mentation. KENYA called on the GEF to include land degradation
asoneof itsfocal areas. BENIN added that the GEF should operate
asthe finance mechanism for all Rio conventions.

ROMANIA and INDIA emphasized the need to intensify work
on geographical data systemsand databases for monitoring.
TANZANIA called for awell-elaborated processto ensureincor-
poration of traditional knowledge and EWS into CCD implementa-
tion. UZBEKISTAN highlighted the worsening environmental
situation inthe Aral Searegion and, with MALAWI and
ARMENIA, supported elaborating afifth annex to the Convention
for Central and Eastern Europe. He added that thiswould promote
interregional cooperationin CCD implementation and reflect the
needs of these countries.

Many Parties highlighted the link between poverty and deserti-
fication. GHANA said that poverty was exacerbated by negative
impactsof globalization and trade and, with BRAZIL, called onthe
WTO to review trade practices having adverse effects on devel -
oping country economies. MOROCCO noted that affected coun-
tries have not adequately mobilized the necessary resources
because of their debt repayment burden. EGY PT linked successin
combating desertification with concreteimprovementsin theliving
standard of affected peoples.

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

ADDITIONAL REGIONAL IMPLEMENTATION
ANNEX TO THE CONVENTION (ICCD/COP(3)/16): The
Secretariat reviewed efforts since COP-1 to devel op aregional
implementation annex for Central and Eastern Europe. BoKjellén
(Sweden), who facilitated consultations on thisissue, said the
proposal for an additional annex highlightsthe Convention’s
universality. The EU encouraged all countries of the region not yet
CCD Partiesto accede as soon as possible to facilitate adoption of
the annex at COP-4. The G-77/CHINA reiterated support for the
annex provided that those countries accede to the Convention. The
AFRICAN GROUP indicated it would have small amendmentsto
the draft decision. The LATIN AMERICAN AND CARIBBEAN
GROUP stated it would express views regarding Bureau member-
ship once the annex is adopted and supported equitable geograph-
ical membership. SWITZERLAND and CANADA welcomed the
draft annex. Kjellén will facilitate consultations on the draft deci-
sion.

PROGRAMME OF WORK FOR COP-4 AND COP-5:
COW Chair Ashe said the Secretariat had prepared adraft decision
onthisissue. Thedraft includes COP-4 reviews of, inter alia:
reports on implementation by affected country Parties, SRAPsand
RAPs of regions other than Africa; the report of the GM; CCD
implementation financing by multilateral agenciesand ingtitutions;
activitiesto strengthen relationshipswith other relevant conven-
tions; and programme and budget. Franklin Moore (US) will facili-
tate consultations on this draft.

MEDIUM-TERM STRATEGY: Michael Ellis (UK) intro-
duced adraft decision, noting that the main operative element takes
note of the Secretariat’srevised medium-term strategy and annexes
itto thedecision for information. Thetext also requeststhe Secre-
tariat to: establish prioritiesinitsprogramme of activities; compile,
summarize and synthesize all reports on implementation; and
report onitsactivitiesat COP-6. The draft was adopted with minor
amendments.

COOPERATIONWITH OTHER CONVENTIONS: Fran-
klinMoore (US) introduced adraft decision and said | celand had
proposed an amendment requesting the Executive Secretary to give
attention to the next FCCC COP, which will discussissuesrelated

to land use, land-use change and forestry. The draft decision
requests the Executive Secretary to also give attention to the next
CBD COP, which will discussawork programme on dryland biodi-
versity, and to work with other conventionsto facilitate the
exchange of scientific and technical information. Del egates
adopted the draft.

REVIEW OF CONVENTION IMPLEMENTATION: Fran-
klin Moore (US) reported that divergent views remain on thisissue
and asked the G-77/CHINA, EU and JUSCANNZ to actively
consult.

INTERPARLIAMENTARY ROUND TABLE

Forty-three Parliamentariansfrom 23 countriesparticipatedina
round-table session to discusstherole Parliamentarians can play in
combating desertification at the national level. Building on the
round-table sessionin Dakar at COP-2, they reaffirmed their
commitment to designing educational, scientific and cultural poli-
ciesfor CCD implementation. COP-3 President Sarney Filho
underlined the responsibility Parliamentarians have, as elected offi-
cids, to give particular consideration to the human condition,
particularly the high social costsrelated to desertification prob-
lems. Jaime Trobo, Intergovernmental Parliament Union, noted the
importance of parliamentary involvement in the CCD process
through the strengthening of institutional and legidlative frame-
works. Michel Temer, President of the Brazilian Chamber of Depu-
tiesand elected Chair of the round-table session, noted the need for
governmental actionsto combat desertification and highlighted the
importance of public hearings, governmental commissions, and
national debate to address desertification problems.

Inasession chaired by Senator Grant Chapman (Australia),
parliament members highlighted, inter alia, the need for: countries
that have not yet ratified the Convention to do so asearly as
possible; further involvement of civil society and local communi-
ties, particularly through attention to the role of women; capacity
building through education, awareness campaigns and dissemina-
tion of best practices; strengthening legislative and institutional
frameworks;, applying modern technol ogy, such as biotechnology;
and further financial and technical assistance.

IN THE CORRIDORS

Thearrival of many familiar facesfor COP-3's second week
buoyed some participants hopesthat the institutional memory and
negotiating skillsthey bring will invigorate COP-3 deliberations.
However, some still expect along week of informal consultations,
particularly on the programme and budget and proceduresto
review of Convention implementation. Delegates report that some
programme and budget issues must await final decisionson other
issues— such asimplementation and the GM —aswell asresolution
of several contentious debates, including whether funds can be
moved between budget item lines and the overall funding level for
the GM and Secretariat. Informal discussionson Convention
implementation have reportedly focused on whether to createa
new committee, with some compromise proposal s suggesting alter-
nativesfor its composition among other aspects.

THINGSTOLOOK FOR TODAY

PLENARY: The Special Segment will convene during
morning and afternoon sessions. Forty speakersare scheduled to
addressthe COP.

COW: The COW will meet at 10:00 am with aview to adopting
decisions on outstanding issues.

INTERPARLIAMENTARY ROUND TABLE: Parliamen-
tarianswill continuetheir discussion and work on aproposed draft
declaration during morning and afternoon sessions.



